

A Service of

ZBW

Leibniz-Informationszentrum Wirtschaft Leibniz Information Centre for Economics

Martínez-López, Diego

## Working Paper Fiscal federalism and public inputs provision: vertical externalities matter

ECB Working Paper, No. 484

**Provided in Cooperation with:** European Central Bank (ECB)

*Suggested Citation:* Martínez-López, Diego (2005) : Fiscal federalism and public inputs provision: vertical externalities matter, ECB Working Paper, No. 484, European Central Bank (ECB), Frankfurt a. M.

This Version is available at: https://hdl.handle.net/10419/152918

### Standard-Nutzungsbedingungen:

Die Dokumente auf EconStor dürfen zu eigenen wissenschaftlichen Zwecken und zum Privatgebrauch gespeichert und kopiert werden.

Sie dürfen die Dokumente nicht für öffentliche oder kommerzielle Zwecke vervielfältigen, öffentlich ausstellen, öffentlich zugänglich machen, vertreiben oder anderweitig nutzen.

Sofern die Verfasser die Dokumente unter Open-Content-Lizenzen (insbesondere CC-Lizenzen) zur Verfügung gestellt haben sollten, gelten abweichend von diesen Nutzungsbedingungen die in der dort genannten Lizenz gewährten Nutzungsrechte.

### Terms of use:

Documents in EconStor may be saved and copied for your personal and scholarly purposes.

You are not to copy documents for public or commercial purposes, to exhibit the documents publicly, to make them publicly available on the internet, or to distribute or otherwise use the documents in public.

If the documents have been made available under an Open Content Licence (especially Creative Commons Licences), you may exercise further usage rights as specified in the indicated licence.



# WWW.ECONSTOR.EU



# WORKING PAPER SERIES NO. 484 / MAY 2005

FISCAL FEDERALISM AND PUBLIC INPUTS PROVISION

VERTICAL EXTERNALITIES MATTER

by Diego Martínez-López



# WORKING PAPER SERIES

NO. 484 / MAY 2005

# FISCAL FEDERALISM AND PUBLIC INPUTS PROVISION

# VERTICAL EXTERNALITIES MATTER '

by Diego Martínez-López<sup>2</sup>

This paper can be downloaded without charge from http://www.ecb.int or from the Social Science Research Network electronic library at http://ssrn.com/abstract\_id=711163.







In 2005 all ECB publications will feature a motif taken from the €50 banknote.



 Parts of this paper have been written during my stay at Umea University and while I was an intern at Fiscal Policies Division of the European Central Bank; their hospitality is acknowledged. I wish to thank T.Aronsson, A. Esteller, T. Madies, A. Sole, an anonymous referee of the ECB, seminar participants at centrA-Seville, at University of Malaga, at 60th Congress of the IIPF, at Umea University, at the ECB, and at centrA-IEF Workshop on Fiscal Federalism, for their comments on earlier versions. The usual disclaimer applies.
 Corresponding address: Centro de Estudios Andaluces. C/ Bailén, 50. 41001 Seville, Spain; Phone: +34 955 055 217. e-mail: diego.martinez@centrodeestudiosandaluces.es

### © European Central Bank, 2005

Address Kaiserstrasse 29 60311 Frankfurt am Main, Germany

Postal address Postfach 16 03 19 60066 Frankfurt am Main, Germany

**Telephone** +49 69 1344 0

Internet http://www.ecb.int

**Fax** +49 69 1344 6000

**Telex** 411 144 ecb d

All rights reserved.

Reproduction for educational and noncommercial purposes is permitted provided that the source is acknowledged.

The views expressed in this paper do not necessarily reflect those of the European Central Bank.

The statement of purpose for the ECB Working Paper Series is available from the ECB website, http://www.ecb.int.

ISSN 1561-0810 (print) ISSN 1725-2806 (online)

# CONTENTS

Abstract	4
Non-technical summary	5
1 Introduction	7
2 The model	9
3 The second-best allocation in an unitary country	12
4 Vertical externalities when federal and state governments play Nash	14
5 Federal government plays as Stackelberg leader	18
6 Concluding remarks	22
References	24
European Central Bank working paper series	26

S

### Abstract

This paper studies the provision of public inputs in a federal system. A vertical tax externality is also considered in a simple general equilibrium model used to analyze the efficiency of equilibria under different scenarios. The results show that the state provision of public inputs may affect ambiguously federal tax revenues, depending on the vertical tax externality, amongst others issues. Moreover, it is proved that achieving a second best allocation is not straightforward for a federal government that plays as Stackelberg leader. At this point, the state's reaction function becomes crucial when the design of vertical grants is restricted.

**Keywords**: Fiscal federalism, vertical externality, productive public spending.

JEL Classification: H2, H4, H7

### Non-technical summary

The existence of vertical externalities is a standard feature in federal countries. Literature has paid a special attention on vertical tax externalities, which arise when two or more different levels of government share the same tax base. The mechanism through which they act consists of ignoring the effect of tax rates decisions taken by one government on other levels of governments' revenues. In particular, the social marginal cost of the public funds is underestimated, and it consequently leads to overprovision of public goods.

In the case of vertical expenditure externalities things are similar. Indeed, the level of education or public infrastructures provided by one level of government affects other governments' budget constraint. Examples of that can be found not only in federal countries but also at supranational level such as European Union; as is well-known, EU regional policy is based on the provision of productivity-enhancing public inputs, which have positive consequences on national and regional tax revenues.

This paper uses Boadway and Keen's (1996) model for studying both types of vertical externalities and their implications on efficiency. We assume that federal government provides a consumption public good whereas state governments finance public inputs affecting positively labor productivity. Both levels of government use taxes on labor and economic rents as resources. Moreover, we deal with restrictions considering the availability of policy instruments: federal government cannot make use of grants to correct vertical externalities. In this regard, the paper tries to reproduce a common feature in many federal countries, namely constitutional arrangements may prevent the design of intergovernmental transfers based on efficiency criteria exclusively. Using as benchmark the optimum solution achieved in a unitary country, we discuss the optimality of equilibria when Nash behavior is assumed for both governments, and when the federal government plays as Stackelberg leader with the aim of replicating the second best outcome.

The main findings of the paper are the following. Firstly, in line with other results of literature, we obtained that the sign of the vertical expenditure externality is unclear in the sense that public input may affect ambiguously tax revenues collected by both levels of governments. Secondly, we show that the sign and magnitude of the vertical expenditure externality depends on marginal productivity of public input, sensitivity of wage rate to public input, share of rents levied by federal government, and elasticity of labor supply to the federal tax rate. In such a way, the model sharply contrasts to that of Dahlby and Wilson (2003); they state that vertical tax and expenditure externalities are independent each one from the other. In this regard, we prove that the reasoning followed by Dahlby and Wilson –based on the production efficiency condition- may lead to misleading conclusions when is used in federal frameworks.

Thirdly, considering the ability of federal government to achieve the second best solution of the unitary country, we conclude that this result is not straightforward as there exist restrictions for the use of vertical grants, even with the federal government behaving as Stackelberg leader. This paper demonstrates that when the set of policy instruments is restricted, the effectiveness of the federal tax rate to implement the second best optimum depends on the state governments' reaction to changes in federal taxes, and this is an empirical issue. Also we obtain that the optimum federal tax rate can be positive, unlike Boadway and Keen's (1996) findings.



## 1 Introduction

Traditionally, the study of vertical externalities in a federation has been focused on tax externalities, in which different levels of government share the same tax base. As is well-known, it leads to an overprovision of public goods as long as the deadweight loss of distorting taxation is underestimated by governments. Flowers (1988) deals with this issue through a Leviathan's approach and shows how the federation may end up at the downward-sloping part of the Laffer curve. Papers such as Dahlby and Wilson (1994), Boadway and Keen (1996), and Sato (2000) find similar conclusions when a benevolent government is involved<sup>1</sup>. Moreover, these contributions propose different systems of vertical transfers that correct these externalities between governments.

Vertical externalities may also arise when other aspects are regarded. Boadway at al. (1998) use a model with heterogeneous and partially-mobile agents to make explicit the trend of the states to be too progressive. In terms of interregional trade, Lucas (2004) has shown recently how a federal government as Stackelberg leader can replicate the unitary nation optimum through matching grants in a federation with vertical and horizontal externalities.

An issue upon which the main branch of the literature has not paid much attention is the vertical externality coming from the provision of public inputs. This point refers to the positive or negative effects that the productive public spending by one level of government may exert on other levels' revenues. In addition, this fact can be found in supranational structures such as European Union, in which an important share of its budget is devoted to regional policies based on the provision of infrastructures; there are no doubts that these types of policies have a positive impact on local, regional and federal budget constraints in many Member States.

Anyway, some papers have dealt with this concern. Dalhby (1996) describes the effects of expenditure externalities in a federation, and defines a general framework for matching grants in order to eliminate them. Wrede (2000) deals with productivity increasing public services in a federation consisting of Leviathan governments. Recently, Dalhby and Wilson (2003) examine a model in which state governments provide a productivity-enhancing

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Nevertheless, Keen (1998) claims that the effects of federal taxes on state taxes are not so much straightforward as it might seem: under certain conditions, increases in the federal tax rate may reduce the state tax rates. Empirical evidence is miscellaneous (see, for instance, Esteller-More and Sole-Olle, 2001, and Anderson et al., 2004).

public input; they conclude that this externality may have an ambiguous impact on federal revenues, and a matching grant from the federal government to the states is able to correct it.

This paper uses Boadway and Keen's (1996) model to study the efficiency of equilibria when a public input is provided by state governments. We here consider the positive impact of a public input on wage rate through a higher labor productivity. Federal and state governments use per unit taxes on labor instead of ad valorem taxes used by Dahlby and Wilson; it allows us to focus on the (likely) positive externality derived from the public input, rather than other positive vertical externalities that may arise when ad valorem taxes are involved. The behavior of governments has been modeled under different scenarios: as a central government in an unitary country, different governments as Nash competitors, and one level of government (the federal one) acting as Stackelberg leader. Moreover, we wonder about the capability of the federal government to achieve a second-best solution. At this point, we deal with restrictions by employing policy instruments: federal government cannot make use of vertical grants to correct vertical externalities. This way, the paper tries to reproduce a common feature in real federations, namely, constitutional arrangements may prevent the design of intergovernmental transfers based on efficiency criteria exclusively<sup>2</sup>.

The results show that, as Dahlby and Wilson (2003) point out, the marginal cost of providing a public input may be under or overestimated in a federal system. However, contrary to Dahlby and Wilson (2003), our paper finds a bias between the unitary and the federal solution, which is not independent of the vertical tax externality. The reasoning followed in this paper sharply contrasts to that of Dahlby and Wilson (2003) because we detect that production efficiency condition does not perform properly as criterion for assessing optimality in federal countries, as they do. Moreover, since no vertical transfers are available in our model, it is not straightforward the ability of federal government behaving as Stackelberg leader to replicate the second best outcome. This paper demonstrates that when the set of policy instruments is restricted, the effectiveness of the federal tax rate to implement the second best optimum depends on the state governments' reaction to changes in federal taxes. Also we obtain that the optimum federal tax rate can be positive, unlike Boadway and Keen's (1996) findings.

 $<sup>^{2}</sup>$ In addition, this point also allows to relate our model to literature on optimal taxation and the availability of policy tools (see Stiglitz and Dasgupta (1971) and subsequent papers)

The structure of the paper is as follows. Section 2 describes the main features of the model. Section 3 provides the second best outcome achieved in an unitary country. Next section compares this result to those reached when federal and state governments play Nash. Section 5 studies whether federal government behaving as Stackelberg leader is able to replicate the second best allocation. Finally, section 6 concludes.

## 2 The model

We assume a country with a federal government and k identical states. It will allow us to address symmetric allocations and to eliminate the possibility of horizontal grants used for redistribution aims. Due to this symmetry, we will focus our discussion on the bilateral relationship between the federal government and only one state government.

Each state is populated by n identical households that are assumed to be completely immobile<sup>3</sup>. Household's utility function is given by the separable form:

$$u\left(x,l\right) + B\left(G\right),\tag{1}$$

where x is a private good used as numeraire, l is the labor supplied, and G is a pure public good provided by the federal government. The properties of the function u(x, l) are the standard ones, and B(G) is increasing and concave. The representative household faces the following budget constraint:

$$x = (\omega - \tau) l, \tag{2}$$

where  $\omega$  is the wage rate and  $\tau$  the per unit tax on labor. Household's optimization problem consists of maximizing (1) subject to (2), and that yields labor supply  $l(\omega - \tau)$  and indirect utility function  $V(\omega - \tau) + B(G)$ . It is assumed that  $l' > 0^4$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Relaxing the assumption of complete household immobility would have no effects on the efficiency of the equilibria and governments' behavior, as long as states are assumed to be symmetric (Proposition 4 in Boadway and Keen, 1996). By contrast, when there is (perfect o imperfect) inter-regional population movements and states are not homogeneous, the second best allocation does not require the equalization of the conventional form of the marginal cost of the public funds across regions and layers of government (Sato, 2000).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>Hereafter, differentiation is denoted by a prime for functions of a single variable, while a subscript is used for partial derivatives.

Output in the economy is produced using labor services and the public input g according to the following aggregate state production function:

$$F\left(L,g\right),\tag{3}$$

where L = nl. This function satisfies the usual assumptions: increasing in its arguments and strictly concave. Output can be used costlessly as x, G or g. Labor market is perfectly competitive so that we can write:

$$\omega = F_L\left[nl\left(\omega - \tau\right), g\right] \tag{4}$$

It allows us to achieve the wage function  $\omega(g, \tau, n)$ . Some results of comparative statics can be found now; they will be used later:

$$\omega_g = \frac{F_{Lg}}{1 - F_{LL}nl'} > 0 \tag{5}$$

$$\omega_{\tau} = \frac{-F_{LL}nl'}{1 - F_{LL}nl'} > 0 \tag{6}$$

Economic profit is defined as a residual, or

$$\pi(g,\tau,n) = F\left[nl\left(\omega\left(g,\tau,n\right)-\tau\right),g\right] - nl\left[\omega\left(g,\tau,n\right)-\tau\right]\omega\left(g,\tau,n\right)$$
(7)

Again, it is useful to obtain some results for later use:

$$\pi_g = F_g - \left(F_{LL}nl'\omega_g + F_{Lg}\right)nl \leq 0 \tag{8}$$

$$\pi_{\tau} = (1 - \omega_{\tau}) F_{LL} n^2 ll' < 0 \tag{9}$$

Note that the effect of public inputs on rents is ambiguous because g increases output (and hence, the economic profits) but also exerts a positive impact upon wage rate, reducing rents.

Each level of government sets its own tax rate on labor. Denoting T as the tax rate established by federal government and t as the corresponding variable at state level, it can be written  $\tau = T + t$ . Thus, the revenue raised by federal government to finance G is:



$$G(T, t, \theta, g, n, S) = knTl(\omega(g, \tau, n) - \tau) + k\theta\pi(g, \tau, n) - kS,$$
(10)

where  $0 \le \theta \le 1$  is the proportional tax rate on profits levied by federal government, and S is a vertical transfer between both levels of government<sup>5</sup>. Throughout this paper,  $\theta$  is assumed to be fixed and exogenously determined. The effects of changes in T, t, g and S on federal budget constraint are given by:

$$G_T = (\omega_\tau - 1) knTl' + knl + k\theta\pi_\tau \tag{11}$$

$$G_t = (\omega_\tau - 1) \, knTl' + k\theta \pi_\tau = G_T - knl \tag{12}$$

$$G_g = knTl'\omega_g + k\theta\pi_g \tag{13}$$

$$G_S = -k \tag{14}$$

The state revenue constraint is

$$g(t, T, \theta, n, S) = ntl(\omega(g, \tau, n) - \tau) + (1 - \theta)\pi(g, \tau, n) + S$$
(15)

State government appears as the only agent providing the public input. Note that all economic profits are taxed away by both levels of governments because rents are efficient resources for public sector<sup>6</sup>. For future reference, the impacts of changes in t, T and S are obtained:

$$g_t = (\omega_{\tau} - 1) ntl' + nl + (1 - \theta) \pi_{\tau}$$
(16)

$$g_T = (\omega_\tau - 1) ntl' + (1 - \theta) \pi_\tau = g_t - nl$$
(17)

$$g_S = 1 \tag{18}$$

 $<sup>{}^{5}</sup>S$  may have either sign and it is defined as a lump-sum grant in the sense of Boadway and Keen (1996) or Sato (2000).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>We establish here that the country is under-populated in order to avoid that tax on rents may suffice to finance the first-best level of public good (Wildasin, 1986).

When one of the equations (12), (13) or (17) is different to zero a vertical externality arises. Equations (12)-(13) show how federal government's tax revenues are affected by fiscal decisions taken by state government on the tax rate and on the provision of the public input, respectively, while equation (17) is the effect of the federal tax upon state government's revenues.

## 3 The second-best allocation in an unitary country

Characterizing a vertical externality requires to consider the differences between the optimal solution in an unitary country, and the solution achieved when several levels of government exist. In this section, we obtain the first order conditions for the optimal provision of the national public good G and the public input g in an unitary country.

The central government chooses the values of G, g and  $\tau$  to maximize the representative household's utility subject to an aggregated budget constraint<sup>7</sup>. Formally,

$$Max \quad V(\omega - \tau) + B(G)$$
  
s.t. :  $G + kg = kn\tau l(\omega(g, \tau, n) - \tau) + k\pi(g, \tau, n),$  (19)

First order conditions for G, g and  $\tau$  are, respectively, as follows:

$$B'(G) - \mu = 0 (20)$$

$$V'\omega_g - \mu k + \mu k n\tau l'\omega_g + \mu k \pi_g = 0 \tag{21}$$

$$(\omega_{\tau} - 1) V' + \mu k n l + \mu (\omega_{\tau} - 1) k n \tau l' + \mu k \pi_{\tau} = 0, \qquad (22)$$

where  $\mu$  is the Lagrange's multiplier. Combining (20) with (22), using Roy's identity and the expressions (6) and (9), yield the necessary condition for the second best provision of national public good  $G^8$ :



<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>Wildasin (1986) demonstrates that it is relevant to distinguish between to maximize the per capita utility or the total utility. As cited by Mansoorian and Myers (1995), considering the total utility of households as objective function implies that each state authority has a preference for the population size. With symmetric equilibria and no migration as here, this point is not very relevant, but it would prevent the extension of the results obtained to an environment in which households mobility is allowed. See footnote 3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>Identifying the optima achieved as second best solutions is related uniquely to the presence of distorting labor taxation.

$$\frac{nkB'\left(G\right)}{\lambda} = \frac{1}{1 - \frac{\tau l'}{l}},\tag{23}$$

where  $\lambda$  is the private marginal utility of income. LHS of equation (23) is the sum of marginal benefits received by all households living in the federation. RHS of equation (23) is the marginal cost of providing G. As is well-known, this expression is the Samuelson's rule for public good provision corrected by Atkinson and Stern (1974).

After some manipulation with equations (21) and (22), using again Roy's identity, and the expressions (6) and (9), the second best condition for the optimal provision of g can be written as follows:

$$\frac{nV'\omega_g}{\lambda} = \frac{1}{1 - \frac{\tau l'}{l}} \left( 1 - n\tau l'\omega_g - \pi_g \right) \tag{24}$$

In essence, the interpretation of this equation is the same than before for G. However, it may be worth noting that two terms can be distinguished in the RHS. The first one is the marginal cost of the public funds (MCPF); the second one is the tax revenue effect that arises so long as g may affect positively or negatively tax bases through labor productivity and economic profits. Both terms of the RHS define the marginal cost of providing the public input (MCP). Whereas in the case of the consumption public good the MCPF and the MCP are identical, when the public input is considered this distinction is required.

In other words, while the MCPF is a concept that exclusively refers to the use of distorting taxation (regardless providing public goods or inputs), the MCP takes into consideration not only the MCPF but also the complementarity between public spending and government's revenues through what we have named tax revenue effect.

Comparing expressions (23) and (24) a simple result that will be used later is obtained:

**Proposition 1** If central government in an unitary country sets a tax rate  $\tau > 0$  and  $\pi_g \ge 0$ , then the marginal cost of providing G will be higher than that corresponding for g (Sufficient condition).

Note that if the provision of g has a positive impact on tax bases, then the marginal cost of providing the public input is below the MCPF, even with distorting taxes. In other hand, if Roy's identity is used in the LHS, and expressions (5) and (8) are inserted in (24), manipulation gives:

$$F_g = 1, (25)$$

that is, the production efficiency condition for the provision of public inputs (Diamond and Mirrlees, 1971). It means that the production effects of the public input are equal to its marginal production cost, though distortionary (but optimally set) taxation to be used<sup>9</sup>.

## 4 Vertical externalities when federal and state governments play Nash

The existence of different levels of government may alter the behavior of the agents if they share the same tax base and/or public spending coming from the state governments is able to modify the federal budget constraint.

This section deals with the optimal conditions involved when state and federal governments behave as Nash competitors, that is, each government takes as given the tax rates and the level of public expenditure implemented by other governments. Hence, state's optimization problem consists of selecting the values for g and t in order to maximize the per capita utility of the state, taken its own budget constraint into account. Formally,

$$Max \quad V\left(\omega\left(g,\tau,n\right)-\tau\right)+B\left(G\right)$$
  
s.t. : 
$$g = ntl\left(\omega\left(g,\tau,n\right)-\tau\right)+\left(1-\theta\right)\pi\left(g,\tau,n\right)+S$$
 (26)

First order conditions we obtain are:

$$V'\omega_{q} - \mu + \mu ntl'\omega_{q} + \mu \left(1 - \theta\right)\pi_{q} = 0 \qquad (27)$$

$$(\omega_{\tau} - 1) V' + \mu n l + \mu (\omega_{\tau} - 1) n t l' + \mu (1 - \theta) \pi_{\tau} = 0, \qquad (28)$$

The expression that relates marginal benefits and costs of providing the public input at state level can be derived as before:

$$\frac{nV'\omega_g}{\lambda} = \frac{1}{1 - \frac{tl'}{l} - \theta F_{LL}nl'} \left(1 - ntl'\omega_g - (1 - \theta)\pi_g\right)$$
(29)

<sup>9</sup>For further discussion, see Feehan and Matsumoto (2002).

Again, the RHS of equation (29) shows the marginal cost of public input provision when distorting taxes are used and different effects on state tax revenues are involved. A key question arises here about the optimality of this result when comparing to the second best outcome. Our model yields the following proposition:

**Proposition 2** If  $T \ge 0$ , the MCPF perceived by state governments that play Nash is smaller than the MCPF in an unitary country. However, the marginal cost of providing g perceived by state governments may be higher, equal or smaller than in an unitary country.

**Proof.** Using  $\tau = T + t$ , an alternative expression of the RHS of equation (29) can be obtained:

$$\frac{1}{1 - \frac{\tau l'}{l} + \frac{Tl'}{l} - \theta F_{LL} nl'} \left( 1 - n\tau l' \omega_g - \pi_g + nT l' \omega_g + \theta \pi_g \right)$$
(30)

First term is the MCPF. By assumption,  $F_{LL} < 0$  so that denominator is bigger than that of expression (24); thus, the MCPF is smaller with state governments. Regarding the marginal cost of provision, nothing can be said about the magnitude of its second term in relation to (24). Note that by (8),  $\pi_g$  may have either sign.

The first part of the proposition is a standard result in the literature, regardless a consumption public good or a public input to be considered. When a vertical tax externality exists, the MCPF for providing both kinds of public expenditures are perceived as lower by state governments. The second part of the proposition pays attention upon the MCP, and claims that the sign of expenditure vertical externality is not determined, so that the state government may under or over-provide the public input.

In this regard, it can be stated that having a positive or negative vertical externality depends firstly on the relative changes in the magnitude of the MCPF and in the tax revenue effect when a federal structure is introduced, and secondly on the sign of the effect of public inputs on rents. In particular, if  $\pi_g \ge 0$  the sign of both combined vertical externalities will depend on the relative magnitudes of both terms in (30) because they change in opposite senses. By contrast, if  $\pi_g < 0$  it may occur that both terms in (30) move in the same sense, and consequently an overprovision of public inputs takes place, but in principle the indetermination is still present.

Some insights on the magnitude of the vertical expenditure externality are provided next. Let  $\psi = \frac{MCP_U^g}{MCP_S^g}$  be the ratio between the MCP in an unitary country and the MCP perceived by state governments, both of them referring g (the RHS of equations (24) and (29), respectively). Proposition 2 states that  $\psi \ge 1$ , i. e., when the state government provides a sub-optimal level of public input, then  $\psi < 1$ , and otherwise.

### Proposition 3 Ceteris paribus,

i)  $\psi$  is decreasing in the elasticity of wage rate to g if T > 0

ii)  $\psi$  is decreasing in the marginal productivity of g if  $0 < \theta < 1$ .

iii)  $\psi$  is increasing in the share of rents levied by the federal government  $\theta$  when  $\pi_g \leq 0$ 

iv)  $\psi$  is increasing in the elasticity of the labor supply to the federal tax rate T (in absolute value).

**Proof.** i) Using the terms with  $\omega_g$  in the second term of (30) -and not present in (24)- and the expression (8) for  $\pi_g$ , yield  $nTl'\omega_g + \theta nlF_{LL}l'\omega_g$ . Rearranging we can write that  $(T - \theta lF_{LL}) nl'\omega_g > 0$ , given (5), T > 0 (by assumption) and  $F_{LL} < 0$ .

ii) Using expression (8) and  $0 < \theta < 1$ , an increase in  $F_g$  reduces the second term of (30). But this effect is bigger in the case of numerator of (24), hence  $\psi$  decreases.

iii) Differentiating the RHS of (29) with respect to  $\theta$  yields  $\frac{\left(1-\frac{tl}{l}-\theta F_{LL}nl'\right)\pi_g-\left(1-ntl'\omega_g-(1-\theta)\pi_g\right)\left(-F_{LL}nl'\right)}{\left(1-\frac{tl'}{l}-\theta F_{LL}nl'\right)^2}.$  Since both terms of the RHS of

(29) are positive, then  $F_{LL} < 0$  and  $\pi_g \leq 0$  lead to a negative sign in the latter derivative. Thus,  $MCP_S^g$  is decreasing in  $\theta$ , and  $\psi$  is increasing in  $\theta$ .

iv) In the denominator of the MCPF in expression (30), term  $\frac{Tl'}{l}$  is the elasticity of labor supply to the federal tax rate T (in absolute value).

In short, the higher the elasticity of wage rate to public inputs and the higher the marginal productivity of public inputs, the more likely is to find infraprovision of public inputs. By contrast, the higher the federal tax rate on rents and the higher the elasticity of labor supply to the federal tax rate, the more likely is to reach overprovision of public inputs.

Parts i) and ii) of proposition 3 show that the sign of vertical expenditure externality depends crucially on the tax revenue effect produced by public input provision. In fact, the more productive the public input, the more tax revenues in both governments. Thus, the gap between what state government sees and what actually happens will be bigger, and it obsviously will lead to infraprovision of public inputs.

Part iii) follows an inverse argument. When public input affects negatively rents, increasing the federal share on economic profits taxes is damaged for federal government, so that risk of overprovision of g rises.

Part iv) of proposition 3 qualifies the statement by Dahlby and Wilson (2003) that vertical tax externalities do not affect public spending externalities. We have found that the extent in which the  $MCP_S^g$  differs from the  $MCP_U^g$  (i. e., the sign and magnitude of the externality) depends on the tax rate set by federal government or whether labor supply is more o less sensitive to the federal tax rate. It means that both externalities are interrelated<sup>10</sup>.

In contrast with that, reasoning followed by Dalhby and Wilson (2003) is based on production efficiency condition and concludes that both externalities are independent each other. Nevertheless, recent papers by Blackorby and Brett (2000) and Kotsogiannis and Makris (2002) have proved that considering production efficiency as criterion for assessing optimality in federal system may be inappropriate. Our model offers a clear insight about that. Using (5) and (8) in expression (29), the following is obtained:

$$\left(\frac{nl\theta F_{Lg}}{F_g} + (1-\theta)\right)F_g = 1 \tag{31}$$

i. e., production efficiency does not hold when governments play Nash. If all the taxes on profits were levied by state government ( $\theta = 0$ ), the above expression would become  $F_g = 1$ , that is, the efficiency in production of public inputs would be achieved but condition for optimality is not still satisfied (see equation (29) with  $\theta = 0$ )<sup>11</sup>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup>In some sense, our vertical expenditure externality holds certain similarities with horizontal externalities. Indeed, assuming a positive impact of state public input on federal tax revenues, it appears a trend towards the infraprovision of g that can be seen as state tax rates being too low (as a result of fiscal competition in the case of horizontal externalities). In such a way, Keen and Kotsogiannis (2002) and Madies (2004) have recently shown the interdependence between both externalities, in line with the results of this paper.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup>Translating this argument to Dahlby and Wilson's (2003) model, we reach the same conclusion. Using their expressions (6) and (16), an optimal federal tax rate  $T^*$  removing both vertical externalities can be achieved (we do something similar in the next section); however, inserting that  $T^*$  into their expression (19), production efficiency is not fulfilled. In other words, optimality conditions in federal systems and production efficiency do not necessarily coincide.

## 5 Federal government plays as Stackelberg leader

Considering that the federal government behaves as Stackelberg leader, anticipating the effects of its actions on the states' decisions, has been the usual way to correct vertical externalities. Federal government sets its tax rate taken as given the states' reaction function, and is able to replicate the second best outcome achieved by government in an unitary country. However, the success of this policy is very sensitive to whether federal government has unrestricted access to vertical transfers or not. As Keen (1998) points out, if vertical transfers are not available for federal government, to achieve the second best allocation is not straightforward, even when the states' reaction function is known.

Our aim here is to shed some light about the capacity of federal government to get the second best outcome when a public input is provided. Vertical transfers will not be allowed for the federal government, whose only instrument to affect the behavior of the states will be the tax rate T. This approach seeks to show not only how the conclusions of the main branch of literature may be modified when policy instruments are restricted, but also to know under which assumptions a federal system with no vertical transfers is able to achieve the second best allocation. This environment also permits dealing with features of real federations, namely, the intergovernmental grants are not usually designed to correct vertical externalities, or sometimes constitutional arrangements prevent the use of vertical transfers based on efficiency criteria exclusively.

As a preliminary point, we should question if there exists a federal tax rate that corrects both vertical externalities. Following Boadway and Keen (1996), we define the marginal vertical externality as follows:

$$\gamma = G_t + G_g,\tag{32}$$

that is, considering the negative and/or positive effects on federal revenues generated by states by means of their own taxes and the provision of public inputs. As at an optimum  $\gamma = 0$ , inserting (12) and (13) in (32), and solving for T the optimal federal tax rate  $T^*$  we find is:

$$T^* = \frac{-(\pi_\tau + \pi_g)\theta}{(\omega_\tau + \omega_g - 1)\,l'n} \leq 0 \tag{33}$$

Since there are no vertical transfers between levels of government, federal tax rate T is the unique instrument to offset the two opposite effects that states' decisions have on the federal revenues. The first effect comes from the fact that state tax rates exert a negative impact on federal budget constraint; as pointed out by Boadway and Keen (1996), in that case federal government should subsidy the (common) tax base that, as a result of the tax externality, is over-exploited. But secondly, it is also likely that the provision of public inputs increases federal revenues (positive expenditure externality); thus if t follows T, it may be convenient that a positive federal tax rate to be implemented in order to encourage state taxes. This way, resources for public input provision will rise. Note that in accordance with Proposition 3 (iv), the  $MCP_S^g$  is decreasing in  $\frac{Tl'}{l}$  ( $\psi$  is increasing in  $\frac{Tl'}{l}$ ), so T may stimulate the spending in g.

Another key question is to know what is the state's reaction function with respect to the federal tax rate. So far, each level of government acted independently; under the new framework, federal government knows the effects of its policy on state's behavior, that is, it knows the state's reaction function. As the first order condition for the state's problem can be written as follows

$$V'\omega_{a}g_{t} + (\omega_{\tau} - 1)V' = 0, \qquad (34)$$

differentiating this expression with respect to T we obtain:

$$(\omega_{\tau} - 1) (1 + t_T) V'' \omega_g g_t + (1 + t_T) V' \omega_{g\tau} g_t + V' \omega_g g_{tt} t_T + V' \omega_g g_{tT} + (\omega_{\tau} - 1)^2 (1 + t_T) V'' + V' \omega_{\tau\tau} (1 + t_T) = 0$$

As  $g_{tT} = g_{tt} + (\omega_{\tau} - 1) l' n$ , rearranging terms and solving for  $t_T$ , the above equation can be rewritten as follows:

$$t_{T} = \frac{-(\omega_{\tau} - 1) V' \omega_{g} n l'}{(\omega_{\tau} - 1) V'' \omega_{g} g_{t} + V' \omega_{g\tau} g_{t} + V' \omega_{g} g_{tt} + (\omega_{\tau} - 1)^{2} V'' + V' \omega_{\tau\tau}} - 1$$
(35)

i. e., the state's reaction function. Given the assumptions of our model, nothing can be said about the sign of  $t_T$  ( $t_T \leq 0$ ). In other words, state tax rates may react ambiguously to changes in the federal tax rate.

Even regarding a more general approach, the doubts about the effects of changes in federal taxes on the national tax rate of the federation remain: the sign of  $1 + t_T$  continues being indeterminate<sup>12</sup>. This ambiguity comes from the unclear net effect of the two vertical externalities when they are considered jointly. While in the case of Boadway and Keen (1996) there exists a remarkable tendency towards overprovision (and the subsequent increase in all tax rates), infraprovision of public inputs (or what is the same, state tax rate being too low) can be found when expenditures externalities are regarded. Even it may lead to reduce the national tax rate  $\tau$  when federal government sets higher tax rates.

In order to consider how is the response of the state tax rate to changes in the lump-sum transfer, expression (34) is differentiated with respect to S to write:

$$(\omega_{\tau} - 1) V'' \omega_g g_t t_S + V' \omega_g g_{tt} t_S + (\omega_{\tau} - 1)^2 V'' t_S = 0, \qquad (36)$$

that leads to  $t_S = 0$ , that is, the tax rate is unaffected by the transfer<sup>13</sup>. Contrary to Boadway and Keen (1996), where this situation is caused by a linear utility function in G, our model does not recognize any ability of the vertical transfer for influencing t, regardless the properties of the utility function. It means that income effects go entirely to the provision of the state public input. Moreover, this is consistent with the null role played by vertical transfers as policy instruments in our model.

At this point, the federal's optimization problem we have to solve is the following:

$$Max \quad V\left(\omega\left(g\left(t,T,\theta,S\right),\tau,n\right)-\tau\right)+B\left(G\left(T,t,\theta,S,g\left(t,T,\theta,S\right)\right)\right)$$
  
s.t. :  $t=t\left(T,\theta,S\right)$  (37)

As can be seen, both objective function and federal constraint take into consideration the behavior of the states and the influence of federal decisions on them. In such a way, federal government chooses T regarding the first order conditions obtained for state government. Formally:

$$[(g_t t_T + g_T) \,\omega_g + (\omega_\tau - 1) \,(1 + t_T)] \,V' + B' \,[G_T + G_t t_T + G_g g_T] = 0 \quad (38)$$



<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup>Note that  $1 + t_T = \frac{d\tau}{dT}$ . <sup>13</sup>This result is based on the assumptions of the model after some manipulation in (36). Details are available upon request.

Using expression (34) and rearranging terms yield:

$$\frac{knB'}{\lambda} = \frac{nV'\omega_g}{\lambda} \left( \frac{1}{1 + \left(\frac{g_t}{l} - n\right)Tl'\omega_g + \left(\frac{g_t}{nl} - 1\right)\theta\pi_g + \frac{(1+t_T)G_t}{knl}} \right), \quad (39)$$

where (11) and (16) have been used. Expression (39) relates the MCP of G at federal level  $(MCP_F^G)$  to the MCP of g at state level  $(MCP_S^g)$  when the former government behaves as Stackelberg leader and the latter one as follower. Note that if tax bases are not shared and the provision of public inputs corresponds to the central government exclusively, i. e.,  $t = g_t = G_t = 0$  and  $\theta = 1$ , expression (39) trivially becomes

$$\frac{knB'}{\lambda} = \frac{nV'\omega_g}{\lambda} \left(\frac{1}{1 - nTl'\omega_g - \pi_g}\right),\tag{40}$$

that is, the relation between the MCP of G and the MCP of g at second best optimum in an unitary country.

Given these two alternative relationships between the MCP under different scenarios, a discussion can be initiated about if federal government is able to achieve the second best solution. Let  $\eta = \frac{MCP_F^G}{MCP_S^G}$  be the variable that relates both MCP assuming Stackelberg approach. The relevant issue here is to know what extent this variable is with respect to 1; this way, we will know whether the federal structure of the country leads to an under or overprovision of the public input, using the unitary solution as benchmark.

**Proposition 4** If federal government plays as Stackelberg leader (with  $T^* > 0$ ) and  $\pi_g \ge 0$ , then  $\eta \le 1$ . Hence,  $MCP_F^G$  may be higher, equal or smaller than  $MCP_S^g$ .

**Proof.** Using (16) and rearranging terms, the expression in parenthesis in equation (39), i. e., the ratio  $\eta$  can be rewritten as follows:

$$\frac{1}{1 + \frac{g_T}{knl} \left[ G_g + (1 + t_T) \, G_t \right]} \tag{41}$$

By (6) and (9),  $g_T < 0$ ; if  $\pi_g \ge 0$ , then  $G_g > 0$  when  $T^* > 0$ , and  $G_t < 0$  by (9),  $\forall T^* > 0$ . As  $1 + t_T \le 0$ , we are not sure if the denominator of (41) is higher, equal or smaller than 1. So  $\eta \le 1$ .

Proposition 4 questions the ability of the federal government to achieve the second best optimum with no vertical grants. Notice that in an unitary country, also with  $\tau > 0$  and  $\pi_g \ge 0$ , the *MCP* of *G* is higher than the *MCP* of *g* unambiguously (Proposition 1). From Proposition 4 a necessary condition to ensure the second best optimum must be established:

**Corollary to Proposition 4** Federal government that plays as Stackelberg may achieve the second best outcome if, and only if,  $1+t_T > 1$ , or what is the same,  $t_T > 0$ .

**Proof.** As the necessary condition for achieving an optimal result is that (41) to be bigger than 1, and since  $g_T < 0$ ,  $G_g > 0$ , and  $G_t < 0$ , we need to have  $G_g + (1 + t_T) G_t > 0$ . Inserting here the expressions (5), (6), (8), (9), and the optimal federal tax rate  $T^*$  (33), it can be seen that  $1 + t_T > 1$  is required to obtain that expression (41) to be bigger than one. Number of households has been normalised to 1 for making easier the proof.

As can be seen, the key point to internalize vertical externalities is the states' reaction function. We need to have state governments that increase their taxes when the federal government sets higher tax rates, and vice versa; only this way the federal policy-makers acting as Stackelberg can correct vertical externalities. One of the main implications is that the effectiveness of federal policy depends crucially on an empirical issue because the sign of  $t_T$  is theoretically ambiguous.

## 6 Concluding remarks

Sharing tax instruments between federal and subnational governments is a common feature in federations. It allows that different levels of government to be involved in financing their own public expenditures. However, the concurrency of tax power on the same tax base causes that vertical tax externalities appear, and a deviation of the results from the second best allocation is produced.

Also vertical externalities arise when public spending provided by one level of government affects other government's decisions. This is the case, for instance, of public inputs such as public investment, education and so on, that may exert different impacts on the tax revenues belonging to other governments. This second vertical externality has received very little attention in the literature on fiscal federalism, though it may be found in countries such as United States, Australia and Spain, or in supranational structures as can be seen with European regional policies. This paper presents a model in which federal and state governments set per unit taxes on labor to finance two types of public expenditures. Federal government provides a consumption public good, while state governments supply a productivity-enhancing public input. Second best allocation is reached in an unitary country, and used as benchmark. When Nash behavior is to be assumed for governments, a vertical externality arises from the provision of public inputs, as well as the tax externality. While the former exerts an ambiguous effect on the federal tax revenues, the latter presents a clear negative influence. In this model, the sign and extent of the expenditure externality depend on the tax externality, amongst other things. Here, it has been proved that using production efficiency condition as criterion of optimality in federal systems leads to incorrect conclusions. Moreover, our results drive to distinguish between the cost of the public funds and the provision cost of the public input, which includes the former and the tax revenue effect.

Also the ability of federal government to achieve the second best outcome has been studied. Our approach restricts the policy instruments of the federal government, and it means that vertical transfers are not available for efficiency purposes. With the model described here, we cannot ensure that the federal government behaving as Stackelberg leader may attain the second best result. We only will have some guarantees about that when the states' reaction function to be such that an increase in the federal tax rate is followed by an increment in the state tax rate, and vice versa. Other result we find is that the optimum federal tax rate has not to be necessary negative in order to correct both vertical externalities.

Further research can be initiated on the basis of this paper. One interesting point would come from introducing households mobility in an environment with heterogeneous regions. It would affect efficiency of the equilibria, which would have to be restricted in order to avoid multiple solutions. Moreover, horizontal externalities would arise and the set of policy instruments probably should be enlarged to consider transfers between governments; otherwise, replicating the second best outcome may become impossible. A second extension could study behaviors of governments when the public goods and inputs they provide are substitutes or complementaries between themselves. Not only new vertical expenditures externalities would appear, but also new possibilities for correcting externalities. Indeed, federal government could use its own public spending with the aim of providing an optimal amount of public inputs. Performance of this policy would be on the basis that different layers of government are able to provide the same o similar public inputs. Thirdly, given the relevance of states' reaction function on the effectiveness of federal policies, empirical researches could highlight how the state governments modify their behaviors when facing federal decisions. To the best of our knowledge, there is a stimulating lack of empirical papers on this issue. Papers such as Besley and Rosen (1998), Esteller-More and Sole-Olle (2001) or Anderson et al. (2004) could be enlarged to deal explicitly with issues related to the interplays between expenditure and tax externalities or the MCP. At this point, the empirical analyses should consider not only the MCPF (in fact, a not very usual aspect regarded in this kind of approaches), but also the tax revenue effect arising when there exist complementarities between public spending and tax revenues.

## References

- Anderson, L., T. Aronsson, and M. Wikstrom, 2004, Testing for vertical fiscal externalities, International Tax and Public Finance 11 (3), 243-263.
- [2] Atkinson, A. B. and N. H. Stern, 1974, Pigou, taxation and public goods, Review of Economic Studies 41, 119-128.
- [3] Besley, T. J and H. S. Rosen, 1998, Vertical externalities in tax setting: evidence from gasoline and cigarettes, Journal of Public Economics 70, 383-398.
- [4] Blackorby, C. and C. Brett, 2000, Fiscal federalism revisited, Journal of Economic Theory 92, 300-317.
- [5] Boadway, R., M. Marchand and M. Vigneault, 1998, The consequences of overlaping tax bases for redistribution and public spending in a federation, Journal of Public Economics 68, 453-478.
- [6] Boadway, R. and M. Keen, 1996, Efficiency and the optimal direction of federal-state transfer, International Tax and Public Finance 3, 137-155.
- [7] Dalhby, B., 1996, Fiscal externalities and the design of intergovernmental grants, International Tax and Public Finance 3, 397-412.
- [8] Dahlby, B. and L. S. Wilson, 1994, Fiscal capacity, tax effort, and optimal equalization grants, Canadian Journal of Economics 27, 657-652.
- [9] Dahlby, B. and L. S. Wilson, 2003, Vertical fiscal externalities in a federation, Journal of Public Economics 87, 917-930.
- [10] Diamond, P. A. and J. A. Mirrlees, 1971, Optimal taxation and public production I-II, American Economic Review, 61, 8-27 and 261-278.
- [11] Esteller-More, A and A. Sole-Olle, 2001, Vertical income tax externalities and fiscal interdependence: evidence from the US, Regional Science and Urban Economics, 31 (2), 247-272.



- [12] Feehan, J. P. and M. Matsumoto, 2002, Distortionary taxation and optimal public spending on productive activities, Economic Inquiry, 40 (1), 60-68.
- [13] Flowers, M. R., 1988, Shared tax sources in a Leviathan model of federalism, Public Finance Quaterly 16, 397-412.
- [14] Johnson, W. R., 1988, Income redistribution in a federal system, American Economic Review 78, 570-573.
- [15] Keen, M., 1998, Vertical tax externalities in the theory of fiscal federalism, IMF Staff Papers 45 (3), 454-485.
- [16] Keen, M. and C. Kotsogiannis, 2004, Does federalism lead to excessively high taxes?, American Economic Review 92 (1), 363-370.
- [17] Kotsogiannis, C. and M. Makris, 2002, On production efficiency in federal systems, Econonomics Letters 76, 281-287.
- [18] Lucas, V., 2004, Cross-border shopping in a federal country, Regional Science and Urban Economics 34 (4), 365-385.
- [19] Madies, T., 2004, Interjurisdictional tax competition and vertical externalities when states provide industrial public goods: A note, 60th Conference of International Institute of Public Finance, Milan, August 2004.
- [20] Mansoorian, A. and G. M. Myers, 1995, On the consequences of government objectives for economies with mobile populations, Working Paper No. 95-2, York University.
- [21] Sato, M., 2000, Fiscal externalities and efficient transfers in a federation, International Tax and Public Finance 7 (2), 119-139.
- [22] Stiglitz, J. E. and P. S. Dasgupta, 1971, Differential taxation, public goods and economic efficiency, Review of Economics Studies 38 (114), 151-174.
- [23] Wildasin, D., 1986, Urban Public Finance, Harwood Academic. Chur, Switzerland.
- [24] Wrede, M., 2000, Shared tax sources and public expenditures, International Tax and Public Finance, 7, 163-175.

### European Central Bank working paper series

For a complete list of Working Papers published by the ECB, please visit the ECB's website (http://www.ecb.int)

- 435 "Reforming public expenditure in industrialised countries: are there trade-offs?" by L. Schuknecht and V. Tanzi, February 2005.
- 436 "Measuring market and inflation risk premia in France and in Germany" by L. Cappiello and S. Guéné, February 2005.
- 437 "What drives international bank flows? Politics, institutions and other determinants" by E. Papaioannou, February 2005.
- 438 "Quality of public finances and growth" by A. Afonso, W. Ebert, L. Schuknecht and M. Thöne, February 2005.
- 439 "A look at intraday frictions in the euro area overnight deposit market" by V. Brousseau and A. Manzanares, February 2005.
- 440 "Estimating and analysing currency options implied risk-neutral density functions for the largest new EU member states" by O. Castrén, February 2005.
- 441 "The Phillips curve and long-term unemployment" by R. Llaudes, February 2005.
- 442 "Why do financial systems differ? History matters" by C. Monnet and E. Quintin, February 2005.
- 443 "Explaining cross-border large-value payment flows: evidence from TARGET and EURO1 data" by S. Rosati and S. Secola, February 2005.
- 444 "Keeping up with the Joneses, reference dependence, and equilibrium indeterminacy" by L. Stracca and Ali al-Nowaihi, February 2005.
- 445 "Welfare implications of joining a common currency" by M. Ca' Zorzi, R. A. De Santis and F. Zampolli, February 2005.
- 446 "Trade effects of the euro: evidence from sectoral data" by R. Baldwin, F. Skudelny and D. Taglioni, February 2005.
- 447 "Foreign exchange option and returns based correlation forecasts: evaluation and two applications" by O. Castrén and S. Mazzotta, February 2005.
- 448 "Price-setting behaviour in Belgium: what can be learned from an ad hoc survey?" by L. Aucremanne and M. Druant, March 2005.
- 449 "Consumer price behaviour in Italy: evidence from micro CPI data" by G. Veronese, S. Fabiani, A. Gattulli and R. Sabbatini, March 2005.
- 450 "Using mean reversion as a measure of persistence" by D. Dias and C. R. Marques, March 2005.
- 451 "Breaks in the mean of inflation: how they happen and what to do with them" by S. Corvoisier and B. Mojon, March 2005.
- 452 "Stocks, bonds, money markets and exchange rates: measuring international financial transmission" by M. Ehrmann, M. Fratzscher and R. Rigobon, March 2005.



- 453 "Does product market competition reduce inflation? Evidence from EU countries and sectors" by M. Przybyla and M. Roma, March 2005.
- 454 "European women: why do(n't) they work?" by V. Genre, R. G. Salvador and A. Lamo, March 2005.
- 455 "Central bank transparency and private information in a dynamic macroeconomic model" by J. G. Pearlman, March 2005.
- 456 "The French block of the ESCB multi-country model" by F. Boissay and J.-P. Villetelle, March 2005.
- 457 "Transparency, disclosure and the Federal Reserve" by M. Ehrmann and M. Fratzscher, March 2005.
- 458 "Money demand and macroeconomic stability revisited" by A. Schabert and C. Stoltenberg, March 2005.
- 459 "Capital flows and the US 'New Economy': consumption smoothing and risk exposure" by M. Miller, O. Castrén and L. Zhang, March 2005.
- 460 "Part-time work in EU countries: labour market mobility, entry and exit" by H. Buddelmeyer, G. Mourre and M. Ward, March 2005.
- 461 "Do decreasing hazard functions for price changes make any sense?" by L. J. Álvarez, P. Burriel and I. Hernando, March 2005.
- 462 "Time-dependent versus state-dependent pricing: a panel data approach to the determinants of Belgian consumer price changes" by L. Aucremanne and E. Dhyne, March 2005.
- 463 "Break in the mean and persistence of inflation: a sectoral analysis of French CPI" by L. Bilke, March 2005.
- 464 "The price-setting behavior of Austrian firms: some survey evidence" by C. Kwapil, J. Baumgartner and J. Scharler, March 2005.
- 465 "Determinants and consequences of the unification of dual-class shares" by A. Pajuste, March 2005.
- 466 "Regulated and services' prices and inflation persistence" by P. Lünnemann and T. Y. Mathä, April 2005.
- 467 "Socio-economic development and fiscal policy: lessons from the cohesion countries for the new member states" by A. N. Mehrotra and T. A. Peltonen, April 2005.
- 468 "Endogeneities of optimum currency areas: what brings countries sharing a single currency closer together?" by P. De Grauwe and F. P. Mongelli, April 2005.
- 469 "Money and prices in models of bounded rationality in high inflation economies" by A. Marcet and J. P. Nicolini, April 2005.
- 470 "Structural filters for monetary analysis: the inflationary movements of money in the euro area" by A. Bruggeman, G. Camba-Méndez, B. Fischer and J. Sousa, April 2005.
- 471 "Real wages and local unemployment in the euro area" by A. Sanz de Galdeano and J. Turunen, April 2005.
- 472 "Yield curve prediction for the strategic investor" by C. Bernadell, J. Coche and K. Nyholm, April 2005.

- 473 "Fiscal consolidations in the Central and Eastern European countries" by A. Afonso, C. Nickel and P. Rother, April 2005.
- 474 "Calvo pricing and imperfect common knowledge: a forward looking model of rational inflation inertia" by K. P. Nimark, April 2005.
- 475 "Monetary policy analysis with potentially misspecified models" by M. Del Negro and F. Schorfheide, April 2005.
- 476 "Monetary policy with judgment: forecast targeting" by L. E. O. Svensson, April 2005.
- 477 "Parameter misspecification and robust monetary policy rules" by C. E. Walsh, April 2005.
- 478 "The conquest of U.S. inflation: learning and robustness to model uncertainty" by T. Cogley and T. J. Sargent, April 2005.
- 479 "The performance and robustness of interest-rate rules in models of the euro area" by R. Adalid, G. Coenen, P. McAdam and S. Siviero, April 2005.
- 480 "Insurance policies for monetary policy in the euro area" by K. Küster and V. Wieland, April 2005.
- 481 "Output and inflation responses to credit shocks: are there threshold effects in the euro area?" by A. Calza and J. Sousa, April 2005.
- 482 "Forecasting macroeconomic variables for the new member states of the European Union" by A. Banerjee, M. Marcellino and I. Masten, May 2005.
- 483 "Money supply and the implementation of interest rate targets" by A. Schabert, May 2005.
- 484 "Fiscal federalism and public inputs provision: vertical externalities matter" by D. Martínez-López, May 2005.

